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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  This summer

          3  vacation, I hope everybody's having a good time, and

          4  it's a beautiful day out.  I think the summer is

          5  still going on.

          6                 I want to welcome everyone here to

          7  our first hearing today exploring live theater's

          8  contribution to New York City and its five boroughs.

          9                 Good afternoon, I am Domenic M.

         10  Recchia, Jr., the Chair of the Cultural Affairs,

         11  Libraries, and International Intergroup Relations.

         12                 Today we will be voting on a

         13  resolution, and I want to just keep in mind that

         14  Council members  --  there are many hearings going

         15  on at one time, Council members will be going in and

         16  out.  As soon as we get a quorum, we will vote on

         17  our resolution.

         18                 Today's oversight hearing we will

         19  focus on the vital cultural life provided by our

         20  theater community, with the hearing entitled,

         21   "Exploring Live Theater's Contribution to New York

         22  City's Five Boroughs."

         23                 I'm glad we have Commissioner Kate

         24  Levin here with us, and of course, Commissioner

         25  Kathy Oliver.  I want to welcome you here.  You can
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          2  both just go ahead and have a seat to testify.

          3                 Through our past hearings, this

          4  Committee has had an opportunity to study in depth

          5  the numerous disciplines that enrich our City's

          6  vibrant cultural community, and the need that such

          7  disciplines must have fulfilled in order to survive

          8  and thrive.

          9                 Today we turn our attentions to New

         10  York's outstanding theater community, examining the

         11  contributions of this unique and valuable sector of

         12  our great cultural community.           We will also

         13  be considering Resolution Number 273 A, a resolution

         14  designating the last week of January to be known as

         15  and celebrated as "Live Theater Week" in New York

         16  City and calling upon the Mayor, the New York City

         17  Department of Cultural Affairs and the Mayor's

         18  Office of Film, Theater and Broadcasting to

         19  recognize and celebrate such a week.  The purpose of

         20  this resolution is to recognize theater as a central

         21  resource for all five boroughs, and to provide

         22  support for this cultural industry at a time of the

         23  year when many theaters face low attendance.

         24                 At this time I would like to begin

         25  the hearing by calling Commissioner Kate Levin, and
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          2  Commissioner Kathy Oliver. I want to welcome you

          3  here, and thank you for doing a great job for live

          4  theaters and live broadcasting in film in our City,

          5  and we'd like to hear from you this morning.

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Thank you so

          7  much.

          8                 Good afternoon.  I am Kate Levin,

          9  Commissioner of the New York City Department of

         10  Cultural Affairs, and I am accompanied today by

         11  Deputy Commissioner Margaret Morton, Chief of Staff

         12  Jamie Bennett, and Assistant Commissioner's Susan

         13  Chin, Kathleen Hughes and Tim Thayer.

         14                 There is no doubt that theater is

         15  central to New York City.  As Bob Holman the poet,

         16  once said:  "everyone around the world can name at

         17  least two streets in New York City, the first tends

         18  to be Wall Street, but the second is always

         19  Broadway."

         20                 As you know, Broadway, specifically,

         21  falls under the purview of the Mayor's Office of

         22  Film, Theater and Broadcasting, and I will restrict

         23  my comments to the non- profit theaters that are

         24  part of DCA's constituency since Commissioner Oliver

         25  is with my to testify.
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          2                 Let me begin by giving you a summary

          3  of the direct support that DCA is currently

          4  providing through the Cultural Development Fund,

          5  administered by our Program Unit through the

          6  Cultural Institutions Group, through our Capital

          7  Unit, and through Materials for the Arts.

          8                 First cultural development.  For

          9  Fiscal Year 2008, our Program Unit received 296 CDF

         10  applications from groups who present live theater.

         11  This is a jump of 68 organizations from the 228 that

         12  applied last year.

         13                 These 296 applications were 28

         14  percent of the total CDF applications that we

         15  received, and interestingly, 77 percent of the

         16  Alliance of Resident Theaters/New York's 382

         17  members.

         18                 As was true of the total pool of CDF

         19  applicants, theater applications were split almost

         20  evenly between those with budgets under $250,000 and

         21  those with budgets over.

         22                 The vast majority of the

         23  applications, 232 of them, came from Manhattan, and

         24  it is interesting to note that 25 percent of them

         25  came specifically from Speaker Quinn's district.
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          2  However, remember that this count is based on where

          3  the groups receive their mail, not where they

          4  deliver their services.  Many of those companies

          5  rehearse and perform outside of their home borough.

          6                 Brooklyn had the second highest

          7  number of applicants, with 30.  The Bronx and Queens

          8  had ten groups each, and Staten Island had nine.

          9                 For Fiscal Year 2008, we funded 243

         10  groups, or 82 percent of theater applicants, with

         11  just under $9 million, or 26 percent of the total

         12  dollars available.

         13                 But application and funding numbers

         14  alone do not fully illustrate the vibrancy of the

         15  theater community in New York.  A much better gauge

         16  for the health of this industry is how much of it is

         17  being presented.  One need only look back over the

         18  past several months to get a sense that theater is

         19  thriving.

         20                 Not only was this past summer the

         21  10th anniversary of the New York International

         22  Fringe Festival, which brought more than 200

         23  companies from all over the world to present 1,300

         24  performances in 20 venues over 16 days, but New York

         25  City also gave rise to two important new theater
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          2  festivals.

          3                 The Latino International Theater

          4  Festival of New York launched their inaugural

          5  TeatroStageFest, which featured theater artists form

          6  New York, Latin America, the Caribbean and Spain

          7  presenting 42 performances and six academic panels

          8  at eight venues that were seen by over 3,000 people.

          9  Over 178 artists, including 42 international artists

         10  and 15 local theater companies participated, as did

         11  1,000 students in the Playwriting-in-The Schools

         12  Program.

         13                 In addition, New York City hosted the

         14  first National Asian-American Theater Festival that

         15  was organized by three New York City Theater

         16  companies:  Ma-Yi Theater, NAATCO, and the Pan Asian

         17  Repertory Theater.  This inaugural festival

         18  consisted of 33 different productions by some 100

         19  artists at 14 presenting venues, including the Snug

         20  Harbor Cultural Center in Staten Island, Queens

         21  Theater in the Park or Q- TIP, and Pregones Theater

         22  in the Bronx, and reached over 8,000 people.

         23                 The Cultural Institution Unit.  Seven

         24  of the 34 cultural facilities owned by the citizens

         25  of New York City regularly present live theater as
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          2  part of their seasons.  In addition to Q- TIP and

          3  Snug Harbor, these also include the Brooklyn Academy

          4  of Music, New York City Center, Flushing Town Hall,

          5  Jamaica Center for Arts and Learning, and the Public

          6  Theater/New York Shakespeare Festival.

          7  Collectively, they receive nearly $11.6 million

          8  annually in support through the Department of

          9  Cultural Affairs.

         10                 Although new festivals are welcome

         11  additions to New York City's theatrical community,

         12  it is also wonderful to see long favorite programs

         13  flourish and expand.

         14                 For example, The Public Theater has

         15  seen such success with both Shakespeare in the Park

         16  and Joe's Pub programming, that they have combined

         17  these initiatives and are currently presenting Joe's

         18  Pub in the Park, which included the 40th anniversary

         19  concert of Hair earlier this week.

         20                 City Center has expanded its wildly

         21  popular Encores series into the summer, Patti Lupone

         22  starred as Mamma Rose in Gypsy for City Center's

         23  first Summer Encores, and it's worth noting that the

         24  summer programming was made possible by a city-

         25  funded capital project installing air conditioning
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          2  in the theater.

          3                 BAM is about to begin their 25th

          4  anniversary Next Wave Festival, which will feature

          5  the United States premiere of Krum, created by

          6  Poland's TR Warszawa.  It is interesting to note

          7  that the company will then return in June to present

          8  a hotly anticipated Macbeth at St. Ann's Warehouse.

          9                 Capital projects.  We are currently

         10  scheduled to invest $275.5 million in capital

         11  projects at 74 organizations that will directly

         12  benefit the theater community in New York City.

         13                 I am happy to see that Ginny

         14  Louloudes is here, and I trust she will speak to

         15  some of the building projects for which the City has

         16  partnered with the ART/NY that benefit the field as

         17  a whole.

         18                 Our capital projects include

         19  investing in long standing staples of New York's

         20  theatrical community  --  the Atlantic, Playwrights

         21  Horizons, and Second Stage, as well as investing in

         22  projects at newer organizations that push and expand

         23  our understanding of theater; 3- Legged Dog, and the

         24  Chocolate Factory, for instance.

         25                 We also invest in theaters that serve

                                                            11

          1  COMMITTEE ON CULTURAL AFFAIRS

          2  their specific neighborhood communities:  Afrikan

          3  Poetry Theater's three-floor facility on Jamaica

          4  Avenue in Queens that will allow them to greatly

          5  expand their public programming.

          6                 We are ever eager to invest in

          7  projects that encourage collaboration between our

          8  cultural groups, so are especially happy that the

          9  Wooster Group will find a new home in the

         10  Baryshnikov Arts Center.  In addition to creating

         11  new performance space, this project will also create

         12  new rehearsal space.  Having companies and space to

         13  present art are vitally important, but so is having

         14  the space in which to create and rehearse.  The new

         15  community educational facility for which we are

         16  partnering with BAM will include a 269- seat theater

         17  for local and youth groups.

         18                 In addition through the HUD monies

         19  that we administer through our Community Arts

         20  Development Program, we are reaching theaters like

         21  Brooklyn's Gallery Players, who have new audience

         22  seating, and the Nuyorican Poets Cafe, which has

         23  newly accessible bathrooms, in addition to the Henry

         24  du Jur Playhouse and the Manhattan Children's

         25  Theater, two groups with whom CADP is currently
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          2  working.

          3                 Finally, through Materials for the

          4  Arts, we have over 450 theater groups who are

          5  registered to receive goods and materials.  Given

          6  the constant need that groups have for props and

          7  sets, this is one of the most valuable services we

          8  provide the theatrical community.

          9                 In fact, the Holy Family Parish

         10  Players of Staten Island were recently quoted in the

         11  press as saying they would not be able to continue

         12  without MFTA's support.  I took a look at the Parish

         13  Player's last trip to MFTA, and they went home with

         14  a keyboard synthesizer, paints, plexi- glass, a lamp

         15  from The Museum of Modern Art, and theatrical

         16  curtains donated by the Blue Man Group.

         17                 As it true for non- profit culture in

         18  general, there are three primary "returns on

         19  investment" that we receive from live theater:

         20  Quality of life, brand identity, and economic

         21  impact.

         22                 Quality of life:  Theater is

         23  certainly one of the primary elements that makes New

         24  York City such a great place to live, work, visit

         25  and go to school.  Conferences hosted in New York
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          2  City regularly report attendance that is a third

          3  higher that those hosted elsewhere.  People like

          4  coming here because the theater is here.

          5                 Brand identity:  Avenue Q, A chorus

          6  Line, Hair, Rent, Talk Radio, Urinetown, and 76

          7  percent of this year's Tony Award winners all were

          8  originated at New York City non- profit theaters.

          9                 Economic impact:  Non- profit theater

         10  accounts for nearly a tenth of the annual $3 billion

         11  in direct expenditures by non- profit cultural

         12  organizations in our City.  Theater, like most

         13  performing arts, is especially labor intensive, so

         14  easily 60 percent of those expenditures go to

         15  artists fees, wages, and benefits to people working

         16  here.

         17                 Theater is also making an important

         18  contribution to our public schools.  Unlike music

         19  and visual art, theater as a stand- alone art form

         20  is relatively new to New York State.  It has only

         21  been since February 2004 that New York has had a

         22  recognized K through 12 theater teaching license.

         23  Previously, theater had been the purview of English

         24  teachers.  This is why we have fewer licensed

         25  theater teachers when compared with the other art
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          2  forms. However, because we have such a robust

          3  theater community in this City, our schools have

          4  more partnerships with theaters than with any other

          5  arts discipline.

          6                 These range from the New Victory

          7  making $2.00 tickets available to every production,

          8  to organizations including Lincoln Center Theater,

          9  Manhattan Theater Club, and the Theater Development

         10  Fund, which combine free and reduced price ticket

         11  programs with an artist residency program.

         12                 Theater is quickly catching up to the

         13  other art forms in our schools.  Not only will an

         14  exit exam in theater be piloted this year, which

         15  would entitle students who pass it to an arts-

         16  endorsed diploma, the equivalent to a Regents

         17  diploma, but our public schools are in the final

         18  stages of completing a three year sequence and a

         19  nationally normed test in technical theater. This is

         20  both a standards and a performance- based test, and

         21  will result in our students having a leg up in

         22  getting jobs as carpenters, make- up technicians, in

         23  scene and costume shops, and as theater

         24  electricians.  We created these tests here in New

         25  York City, but they will be made available to school
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          2  systems across the country.

          3                 In closing, I would like to thank

          4  Council Member Recchia and all the members of this

          5  committee for their continuing efforts and attention

          6  to our City's theaters, as well as to the cultural

          7  field as a whole.  I look forward to our continuing

          8  collaborations, and my colleagues and I are now

          9  happy to answer any questions you may have.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you

         12  Commissioner.

         13                 First before I start asking you

         14  questions, I'd like to introduce my colleagues who

         15  are here, and then we'll vote on the resolution

         16  because they all have to get to another hearing.

         17  Then we'll hear from Commissioner Kathy Oliver, and

         18  then we'll ask our questions.

         19                 At this time I'd like to introduce

         20  Inez Dickens from the wonderful borough of

         21  Manhattan, Eric Gioia from Long Island City, Queens,

         22  our Majority Leader Leroy Comrie who's here, Vincent

         23  Gentile my partner, and Mr. White from Queens.

         24  Welcome you all.  Oh, and Jimmy Vacca, I didn't see

         25  you, from the Bronx, I'm sorry.
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          2                 At this time we'll call the vote on

          3  Resolution 273-A.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vote on Resolution

          5  273-A.

          6                 Council Member Recchia.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Aye.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Comrie.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Aye.

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gioia.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GIOIA:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gentile.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dickens.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Aye.

         16                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Vacca.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  White.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE:  I would like

         20  to add my name to the Bill.  So being, I say aye.

         21                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of seven in

         22  the affirmative, zero in the negative, and no

         23  abstentions, the item is adopted.  The roll will be

         24  held open by request of the Chair.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes.  Okay,
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          2  thank you all my colleagues for staying here to vote

          3  this resolution out.

          4                 Now we will hear from our

          5  Commissioner Kathy Oliver.

          6                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Oh, thank you,

          7  and thank you for the opportunity to speak with you

          8  today about the City's theater industry.

          9                 The Mayor's Office of Film, Theater

         10  and Broadcasting, which is known as the MOFTB, was

         11  founded in 1966, and the main mission was to develop

         12  and increase employment and investment in New York

         13  City's entertainment industry.

         14                 Theater is a major component of this

         15  industry, and in keeping with our mission the MOFTB

         16  is committed to cultivating this sector.  As part of

         17  this effort, we have worked to create and promote

         18  other exciting incentives that support the theater

         19  industry, including the "Made in NY" Discount Card

         20  Program, and the Commercial Rent Tax Exemption and

         21  Sales Tax Exemption.

         22                 Another component of the agency's

         23  commitment to the theater industry is its

         24  involvement with the Summer Play Festival, and its

         25  subsequent education panels.  As a promotional
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          2  partnership, the SPF, Summer Play Festival, works in

          3  conjunction with our agency to curate these panels,

          4  provide a venue for the panel, and provide outreach

          5  so that potential audiences are aware of the events.

          6    Our agency has provided free advertising space as

          7  exemplified in the office's "Made in NY" Marketing

          8  Incentive Program, and has announced SPF

          9  participants and productions on our website.

         10                 As most of you know, the Commercial

         11  Rent Tax Exemption offers theatrical productions in

         12  parts of Manhattan an exemption from rent tax for

         13  the first 52 weeks of production, and has been in

         14  effect since 1995.  In that year, New York City

         15  enacted a new law under a subsection of the

         16  Commercial Rent Tax. The incentive applies to

         17  productions which use taxable facilities, and are

         18  located on or south of the south side of 96th Street

         19  in Manhattan.  We promote this incentive on our

         20  website and look forward to finding additional ways

         21  to collaborate with you on sharing this incentive

         22  with the theater industry.

         23                 In addition, we continue to make

         24  revisions to reflect progressive changes in the

         25  incentive structures such as the recent one in 2005,
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          2  when the City adopted rules interpreting the stature

          3  to include dance plays among the theatrical works

          4  that qualify for the tax exemption, and to further

          5  define when the production of the theatrical work

          6  begins.  Under these new rules, productions which

          7  move from outside Manhattan or from a non- profit to

          8  a commercial theater are entitled to start their 52

          9  week clock fresh.  Incentives such as these give

         10  more support and longer life to our vibrant theater

         11  community.

         12                 Our agency also promotes the Sales

         13  Tax Exemption which can be an incredibly useful

         14  incentives for our participants.  Sales tax on most

         15  goods and services used for the production of live

         16  theater in New York is exempt.  This includes

         17  tangible personal property and services.

         18                 We recently extended an existing

         19  program to theater in an effort to bring down the

         20  cost of not- for- profit theater productions.  The

         21  Mayor's Office of Film, Theater and Broadcasting

         22  provides "Made in NY" Discounts Cards to theatrical

         23  productions.  The card, which is produced in

         24  conjunction with HSBC Bank, provides discounts from

         25  over 760 partners, and the numbers continues to
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          2  grow.  These vendors cover everything from

          3  accounting services to catering to flowers, gifts,

          4  restaurants and more.  While the cards expire, they

          5  can be renewed quarterly and are available simply by

          6  coming to our offices and filling out an

          7  application.

          8                 To be clear, one of our agency's

          9  missions is to increase business for the local

         10  theater industry.  Having a "Live Theater Week" in

         11  New York City would certainly be a positive step in

         12  that direction.  In the past, we've supported film

         13  festivals and other cultural events around the

         14  city's five boroughs through our "Made in NY"

         15  Marketing Incentive Program.

         16                 The Marketing Incentive Program

         17  provides free advertising on bus shelters and other

         18  media throughout New York City.  It's something

         19  that, based on availability, our agency could

         20  potentially offer in support of the "Live Theater

         21  Week."              Additionally, we release a

         22  monthly on- line newsletter to over 15,000

         23  subscribers.  Our newsletter has the potential for

         24  calls to action and other supports.

         25                 Finally, it isn't unusual that a
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          2  film, television or commercial production will be

          3  active in the vicinity of a theater.  So, our agency

          4  is committed to negotiating the needs of the

          5  theater, which often include noise and traffic

          6  coordination, and the production.

          7                 In 2006, our agency and the Living

          8  Room for Artists/Summer Play Festival produced four

          9  panels addressing careers in theater management,

         10  theatrical production and support and acting.  The

         11  panels examined "Careers in Theater Management,"

         12   "Careers Backstage," "Actors and the Casting

         13  Process," and "Producing 101:  How to Get a Show Up

         14  and an Audience In."  All of these panels were free

         15  and took place at the Acorn Theater in Theater Row

         16  on Saturday mornings.  We certainly welcome your

         17  feedback on additional ways that we can invite your

         18  constituents to join in on these free panels, which

         19  will pick up again this fall.

         20                 In addition, while these panels

         21  typically take place in the fall, our agency and the

         22  Summer Play Festival held one this summer that

         23  served as a case study to creating a musical.  We

         24  focused on "Grey Gardens," and it featured a

         25  conversation with the show's lyricist, Michael
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          2  Korie, the director, Michael Greif, and producer,

          3  Randall Wreghitt, if I'm pronouncing that correctly.

          4                 Our agency is currently working with

          5  the Summer Play Festival on the fall 2007 lineup of

          6  panels, which we hope will be just as, if not more,

          7  successful than what we've done in the last few

          8  years.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you,

         11  Commissioner, and I'm glad both of you are here

         12  today, and we'll have some questions.  I'll ask a

         13  few questions, and then I'll ask my colleagues if

         14  they have any questions.

         15                 First, does the City offer incentives

         16  to performing art companies to stage shows outside

         17  of Manhattan, into the outer boroughs?  How can we

         18  increase that?

         19                 Commissioner Levin, before you said

         20  that in the outer boroughs, I believe, there were

         21  ten  --  Brooklyn having the second highest and the

         22  Queens and Bronx had ten, and then Staten Island had

         23  nine.  What are we doing to increase it in the outer

         24  boroughs?

         25                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We can certainly
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          2  look at that.  There are no formal programs at the

          3  moment that incent performance in any particular

          4  place or venue.

          5                 The actual performance of live

          6  theater is much higher than the number of companies

          7  that are located in any one borough though I would

          8  say because there's a lot of performance that

          9  happens, for example, in the summer months outdoors.

         10

         11                 Again many of the organizations that

         12  may get their mail in Manhattan, perform all over

         13  the City.  So, maybe one thing to do is to start

         14  looking at the rate of performance in Manhattan and

         15  outside of Manhattan.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Okay.  Anyone

         17  have any questions before--

         18                 Leroy Comrie has questions.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Good

         20  afternoon, Commissioners.

         21                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Good afternoon.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Thank you for

         23  being here.

         24                 In your testimony, Commissioner

         25  Levin, you talked about capital projects and ongoing
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          2  capital projects, and you mentioned the Afrikan

          3  Poetry Theater, thank you very much.

          4                 Is that project on time as far as you

          5  know?

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Margaret.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORTON:  It has

          8  been enormously complicated for a number of reasons

          9  having to do with the organization deciding how it

         10  wanted to spend our money.

         11                 My understanding is, the most recent

         12  scope we've received from them, it's moving ahead

         13  quite nicely at this point. I'd be happy to sit with

         14  you and tell you exactly what's going on with it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.  Also,

         16  I have been informed that the Landmark Project has

         17  had a major setback.  I don't know if you're aware

         18  of it, but there was a flooding issue. My district

         19  has major flooding problems, and during the rains

         20  this summer, there was a flood that happened in the

         21  Project twice, both the July and August rain storms

         22  that had created a problem with the basement.  It

         23  was flooded, and I'm not sure if you're aware of it,

         24  but it has really ripped the Project completion

         25  deadline to shreds.  I am hoping that there can be
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          2  some opportunity to sit down and have a full

          3  discussion about that also.  Because right now the

          4  project manager can't give the Jamaica Center for

          5  Arts and Learning any type of real deadline as to

          6  when the project can be completed.  The damage was

          7  that extensive.  I'm not sure if it's going to

          8  require more money at this point or what, but I

          9  think that's something that we need to work on.

         10                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORTON:  I'd be

         11  happy to have that conversation with you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay.

         13                 Just as far as the capital in

         14  general, are you under this new freeze that the City

         15  has instituted where we are trying to give money to

         16  cultural institutions or non- profits?  Or are we

         17  still able to give cultural institutions that are

         18  looking for capital money dollars?

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORTON:  I'm not

         20  sure exactly what you're talking about.  If it's

         21  what I think it is, you are still absolutely able to

         22  give capital monies to cultural organizations.  We

         23  are specifically exempt from that.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, great.

         25  So any cultural organization, even if they are in a
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          2  leased facility, can still get dollars from--

          3                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORTON:  The

          4  rules of capital eligibility still apply, so I'm

          5  always happy to discuss any potential project that

          6  you have in mind to make sure that we will be an

          7  effective partner with them.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORTON:  But

         10  capital dollars can still flow to non- profit

         11  cultural organizations.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Right, and

         13  materials for the arts that's located in Long Island

         14  City, they have a long term lease that they will be

         15  able to stay there for a while?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORTON:  Yes,

         17  absolutely, it's a 20- year lease.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Okay, great.

         19                 Thank you, thank you very much.

         20                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER MORTON:  Thank

         21  you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.

         23                 I have a question for Commissioner

         24  Oliver.  You talk about the commercial rent tax,

         25  CRT, the abatement that's available to theaters,
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          2  which was recently posted on your website. It is my

          3  understanding that the CRT is paid only on rents

          4  over $250,000 for commercial purposes south of 96th

          5  Street, and the abatement exempts theaters for the

          6  tax for the first 52 weeks of the production.

          7                 How many performing artists are

          8  currently taking advantage of the CRT abatement?

          9  What is the annual cost to the City?  How many

         10  theaters are currently paying the CRT?

         11                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  I don't have

         12  that information handy, but I'd be happy to research

         13  it for you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes, could you

         15  just go into that so my colleagues can understand

         16  exactly what that is all about?

         17                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Absolutely.

         18  I'll look into it.  I don't have the figures right

         19  now.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  No, no, no.  If

         21  you don't have the figures, just explain it to us,

         22  what it's all about for my colleagues.

         23                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  I think that

         24  you know, it's an incentive that really applies to

         25  productions which are using taxable facilities, and
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          2  that they're located in certain parts of the City.

          3                 This was something that was put into

          4  effect in 1995, and the changes that were in 2005,

          5  the City adopted rules that interpreted the statute

          6  a little differently, and widened it so that dance

          7  plays could be considered among the theatrical

          8  productions that could take advantage of this.

          9                 Also, it further defined when the

         10  productions actual theatrical production work would

         11  begin.  So for example, if the productions were to

         12  move from outside of Manhattan, one of the boroughs,

         13  or from a non- profit to a commercial theater, that

         14  they were really entitled to start their 52 week

         15  clock fresh. So, it would give them that extra time.

         16    So it was a slight revision.  It was kind of

         17  broadening it to give more of the non profits an

         18  opportunity to take advantage of this incentive.

         19                 But the numbers that you are asking

         20  for, I'm happy to research that with EDC and other

         21  agencies and get back with to you, but I don't have

         22  them here today.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Okay.  I just

         24  have a follow up question.

         25                 How could we get to have more of
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          2  these performances into the outer boroughs with the

          3  exemption going out there?  What could we do to get

          4  this to go more to advance them to the outer

          5  borough?

          6                 See, our goal here is, and we hear a

          7  lot about it, especially in the theater industry,

          8  everything is Manhattan central located.

          9  Unfortunately, there are a lot of people throughout

         10  our wonderful city that would love to go to the

         11  theater, but they either can't afford it, or they

         12  can't afford the transportation or for some reason.

         13                 I know the theater industry has many

         14  different programs.  I mean the League is doing

         15  their job with Family First Night, which is an

         16  excellent program, but how can we get some of these

         17  performances and help them out to get it to the

         18  outer boroughs?

         19                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Well, I think

         20  that we're working closely with NYC and Co. On their

         21  whole new initiative to promote activities in the

         22  outer boroughs.  We're looking at ways in which we

         23  can highlight what's on offer in Brooklyn, Queens,

         24  the Bronx and Staten Island.

         25                 You're right, most people think of
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          2  Manhattan and it's funny that most tourists that

          3  come into town don't have a problem with going on a

          4  bridge, or going in a train.  Most European

          5  travelers, they don't think twice about it but

          6  sometimes it's hard to get people who live in

          7  Manhattan to go out to the outer boroughs.

          8                 So, I think that that's something

          9  that we're working with NYC and Co. In the marketing

         10  department to think of creative ways in which we can

         11  educate both New Yorkers and of course, tourists,

         12  about all of the different opportunities.  Not only

         13  the cultural assets in the outer boroughs, but the

         14  restaurants and the other facilities.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Excuse me, I

         16  just have to give my colleague Dan Garodnick from

         17  Manhattan an opportunity to vote.

         18                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Proposed Resolution

         19  273-A, Council Member Garodnick.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GARODNICK:  I vote

         21  aye.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.

         24                 Do you have anything else you would

         25  like to add to that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Just that we

          3  try to promote as best we can using our website and

          4  the resources that we have, but we have very limited

          5  marketing budgets and advertising can be expensive.

          6  So, we're interested in exploring other creative

          7  ways to use the assets that we have at our

          8  fingertips.  But through NYC- TV, we're working with

          9  NYC- TV and they are doing some feature pieces on

         10  different theater organizations, and some of the

         11  innovative programming that they have put forward

         12                 So I think internally, city

         13  government tries to really look at some of the

         14  assets that we have at our fingertips and figure out

         15  how we can best promote it, and spread the word

         16  about all of the great things that are happening in

         17  the City.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.

         19                 Council Member Jimmy Vacca from the

         20  Bronx.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  I just had one

         22  question to follow up on that because I have four

         23  theater groups in my district.  Now, we try to be

         24  supportive as individual members, but what are they

         25  entitled to?  What technical assistance do you give
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          2  them?  Do you give them any resources from cultural

          3  affairs?            I mean, you talk about

          4  restaurants and all.  I mean, one of my theater

          5  groups is on City Island, so therefore, it would be

          6  a wonderful night out for community theater and

          7  dinner, but I don't see any linkages that would let

          8  me to believe that there was a network for those

          9  groups.

         10                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Well I mean,

         11  that's not what my agency does or that Kate's agency

         12  does specifically, but NYC and Co., which is the

         13  City's travel and tourism, they are looking at

         14  Restaurant Week and they look at different ways to

         15  promote restaurants and different assets in the

         16  City.

         17                 So, that might be another way that we

         18  can look to help some of these cultural

         19  organizations going forward, and we should explore

         20  opportunities there.

         21                 But in terms of what my agency does

         22  for these individual productions, I mean, well the

         23  smaller theater groups in the outer boroughs that

         24  would be more Kate's thing, but we help with loading

         25  in and issuing permits for the supports of the
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          2  production in that capacity.  We really don't have

          3  the resources or the money to support the marketing

          4  initiatives directly.

          5                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Do you know what

          6  the names of the entities are?  Otherwise, we can

          7  just follow up with you and let you know--

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Well I know

          9  City Island Theater Group.  There is the  --  I'll

         10  have to get you the four names.  There's one at

         11  Jacobi Hospital, I can get you the names.

         12                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  The bottom line

         13  is, we are happy to let you know.  I assume these

         14  are non- profits?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Yes.

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  They are totally

         17  eligible to apply for funding to us.  I hope that

         18  they do.  I hope that we fund them.  So, that's one

         19  thing.

         20                 We are also always available to

         21  provide various kinds of technical assistance

         22  relating, mostly, to management issues.  That's what

         23  we know best.  That's what we do best.

         24                 As Katherine said, we do work with

         25  NYC and Company.  We also work through our own
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          2  website to try and provide some promotional

          3  resources to these organizations.

          4                 In terms of the restaurant,

          5  commercial tie- in, we have found actually a great

          6  deal of success working with the Department of Small

          7  Business Services through their BID Program. None of

          8  these entities may be where there is a Business

          9  Improvement District, but if there is, they are

         10  often very good vehicles for cross- promoting

         11  culturals, retail, commercial restaurant kind of

         12  entities.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Right.

         14                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  So in all of

         15  those cases, that's what we're there for, is to try

         16  and help make these connections.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Okay, thank

         18  you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Just to follow

         20  up Council Member Vacca, also, maybe we'll have a

         21  round table discussion to pursue this further to see

         22    --  with NYC and Company at the table, to see how

         23  all three agencies can work together and maybe come

         24  up with a new initiative in next year's budget to

         25  see how we could help such programs like in your
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          2  district.

          3                 But also, I would like to just

          4  mention that a vehicle that's coming up for

          5  theater's to promote themselves, and for

          6  organization's to promote exactly what they do, is

          7  in a few weeks we have Culture Fest coming up, which

          8  is they let you come there and display exactly what

          9  your theater does, and your schedule, and it's a

         10  wonderful, wonderful festivity that's coming up that

         11  the Bloomberg Administration came forward with, and

         12  I attend ever year.  It's a great  --  it's I

         13  believe, October 13th and 14th.  It's the weekend

         14  after Columbus Day weekend.  That's all I know.

         15  Yes, the 13th and 14th.  It's a great program, and I

         16  go there.  It's the only place you can go for

         17  nothing, and your kids have a great time.  I just

         18  wanted to make this aware to all of my colleagues.

         19  If you ever want to see what's going on in New York

         20  City, just go there.  You'll see all kinds of

         21  artists, theaters, and programs being run.  It's a

         22  great day.

         23                 Does any other member have any

         24  questions?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Just one
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          2  thing, Mr. Chairman.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Because my

          5  memory failed me.  But I have it here.  I'm learning

          6  how to do all these things here.

          7                 Center Stage Community Playhouse,

          8  City Island Theater Group I gave you, New York Kids

          9  Theatrical Alliance, and Bronx Spotlight Theater.

         10  Those are the four groups that I wanted you to know

         11  about, and whatever we can do for them to advertise

         12  their events, but to give them support and help.

         13  These are all run by volunteers, and I agree with my

         14  Chairman when he indicates that the outer boroughs,

         15  and what we're doing in the outer boroughs to

         16  promote culture, it looks like they're kind of on

         17  their own.  It doesn't look like we're doing much to

         18  promote outer borough theater.  I think we have

         19  chance.  We have a nucleus of people.

         20                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  We will follow

         21  up with you and let you know whether they are on our

         22  radar, whether they should be, if there's some way

         23  that we can be more aggressively in touch with them.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you,

         25  Commissioner.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Council Member

          3  Vincent Gentile.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Thank you,

          5  Mr. Chairman.

          6                 Commissioners, I just want to follow

          7  up on Council Member Vacca's point.

          8                 One of the ways small theater groups

          9  need help in the outer boroughs is locating and

         10  being able to provide rehearsal space for these

         11  small theater groups.  That is the number one issue

         12  of the theater groups in my district that they do

         13  not have adequate rehearsal space.

         14                 What, if anything, can be done in

         15  regard to the kind of a help?

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Through my

         17  agency's capital program, one of the things we place

         18  a premium on is projects that provide rehearsal

         19  space, and specifically affordable rehearsal space.

         20  It doesn't touch every single organization in every

         21  single neighborhood, but that's something that we've

         22  done a huge amount of in the past five- and- a- half

         23  years, is try and create rehearsal and studio space

         24  for theater and for other disciplines.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  In the outer
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          2  boroughs?

          3                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Yes,

          4  everywhere, all over the City.  Every time we do a

          5  project, we try and create some kind of amenity.

          6                 I mean obviously, it's up to the

          7  organization that brings us the project, but if at

          8  all possible, particularly if there's anything

          9  related to the performing arts, we try and create

         10  some kind of amenity that helps artists make art,

         11  not just display it.

         12                 So again, happy to work with you and

         13  figure out what's in your district, and how they

         14  could perhaps be more connected to resources that

         15  may exist.  But it is one of the things we're

         16  constantly working on, is how do we create a

         17  portfolio, not just of venues but of spaces where

         18  artists can create material.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GENTILE:  Great, then

         20  we'll be in touch.  Thanks.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Just one more

         22  thing on this.  I do feel that if a theater group

         23  that's incorporated and recognized by your agency is

         24  using space in a city- owned building, a stage,

         25  there should be a rent consideration.
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          2                 I have local theater groups that when

          3  they want to use a city- owned building under  --

          4  Health and Hospitals Corporation comes to my mind

          5  immediately, they are charged for the use of the

          6  facility.

          7                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  I can only tell

          8  you, and I refer to someone like Jeff Rosenstock,

          9  who I see is out here, the city- owned facilities

         10  have to pay for their amenities as well.           So

         11  , I am 100 percent with you that I think we should

         12  try and make a discounted rate for non- profits

         13  whenever possible, but I sort of feel like I have

         14  to, on behalf of some of my colleagues who are also

         15  struggling to make ends meet on their end, point out

         16  that it's often not possible to offer absolutely

         17  free space because these entities are still trying

         18  to pay for security and cleaning the bathrooms and

         19  everything else.  But wherever possible, absolutely

         20  there should be a concession made to non- profit

         21  groups working on city- owned property.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Commissioner

         23  in the case I'm eluding to, the theater group uses

         24  it twice a year, or three times a year, yet that

         25  money coming out of their bank account means a lot
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          2  to them.  They're existing because they sell soda

          3  and candy bars during intermission basically.

          4                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  So I did want

          6  to pass that through you, and let you know that I do

          7  think there should be a consideration, especially if

          8  they find city- owned property with the appropriate

          9  facilities.  Finding is a problem, but if you find

         10  it, and you're able to use it, why be punitive in a

         11  way by charging a rent that's not affordable.

         12                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  We're happy to

         13  talk to HHC and see what can be done.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  So I'll be in

         15  touch with you if I have that come up again.

         16                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  Thank you,

         18  Commissioner.

         19                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  You're welcome.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.  Any

         21  more questions?

         22                 Well, I want to thank you both for

         23  coming here today, and thank you for working with

         24  us.

         25                 Next panel, please.
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          2                 Oh, oh, oh, oh, I just have one thing

          3  to ask the Commissioner.  I just made a note to

          4  myself.

          5                 You talked about all these new

          6  festivals that, in your testimony, and it's great

          7  because we promote these festivals that bring people

          8  in, and we should  --  is there a mechanism, or do

          9  you think there could be a mechanism in the way that

         10  we might try to fund them in the future, or support

         11  them monetarily?

         12                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  TeatroStageFest

         13  I think has come to us now about funding.  You know,

         14  they have to exist long enough to be funded--

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes.

         16                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN: --  as an entity,

         17  and certainly with the Asian- American Festival, we

         18  fund each of the individual theaters that comprise

         19  that.  So one way or another, absolutely we are

         20  interested in making sure that we are supportive as

         21  possible.  In both cases, the Mayor promoted both of

         22  them.  So, we have tried for the first year of these

         23  festivals to be as supportive as possible, but

         24  ultimately we are looking to help support them by

         25  either funding the constituent companies or the
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          2  festival as a whole, absolutely.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes, because

          4  there are other festivals out there that you did not

          5  mention that I believe are great.

          6                 COMMISSIONER LEVIN:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.

          8                 COMMITTEE STAFF: (Not identified for

          9  the record.):  Okay, the first panel, Arne

         10  Gundersen, Actors Equity Association, Ginny

         11  Louloudes, A.R.T./New York, and Charlotte St.

         12  Martin, The League of American Theaters and

         13  Producers.

         14                 MS. LOULOUDES:  I'm going to go

         15  first.  I'm not going to read my testimony.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Did Charlotte

         17  say it's okay?

         18                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Charlotte and Arthur

         19  both said it's okay.  I always get permission.

         20                 A couple of things.  The Alliance of

         21  Resident Theaters/New York is the trade and service

         22  organization for New York City's 380 non- profit

         23  theaters.  We have three members that we know of in

         24  the Bronx, we didn't know of any of your groups and

         25  I will contact them.
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          2                 We provide loans, grants, technical

          3  assistance, affordable rehearsal and performance

          4  space, well, rehearsal space now and we're working

          5  of performance space.  We have a space in Brooklyn

          6  for rehearsal space and office space, and a space in

          7  Manhattan for rehearsal space and office space.

          8                 I would love to expand my membership

          9  in the Bronx, so I will get your card.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  He's going to

         11  look it up on his BlackBerry.

         12                 MS. LOULOUDES:  I just want to let

         13  you know that at the last hearing, Council Member

         14  Gentile was asking Kate Levin the same question you

         15  asked her.  I ran up to him, got the name of some

         16  community theater groups in Bay Ridge, where I just

         17  happened to have moved.  I just grabbed him and

         18  said, "Susan and I are already in touch.  I know

         19  what this rehearsal space problem is."

         20                 However, capital funding may not be

         21  the answer. The Narrows Community Theaters has

         22  $24,000 in the bank.  How are they going to match a

         23  $1 million grant?  I would bet that the budgets of

         24  all of the groups that you gave me are under $3

         25  million.  Good guess?
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          2                 So, just to be realistic here.  There

          3  are many other solutions besides building, building,

          4  building.  There's matchmaking.  There are other

          5  theaters that already have rehearsal space, there

          6  are churches that are underutilized that have space

          7  that can be used for rehearsals.  There are schools.

          8  There are tons of things that we can do.  So, we're

          9  going to get together and talk about that.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I appreciate

         11  that.  I just think knowing that someone is there to

         12  give them assistance because they have been on their

         13  own in churches and making due with space.  That's

         14  not the optimum.

         15                 MS. LOULOUDES:  I understand

         16  completely.  They're rehearsing the Music Man in a

         17  senior citizens center.  It's got 40 actors, and 20

         18  kids.  Can you imagine?  Sixty kids in a room the

         19  size of, from that 2 o'clock- two minute space to my

         20  table this wide, the Music Man, and it's a hard

         21  project for them to do not on a stage.  They do have

         22  a performance space at St. Patrick's church, but

         23  they can't rehearse at the church, and there are

         24  more Catholic churches probably in Bay Ridge and

         25  Dyker Heights than in most neighborhoods.  But I'll
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          2  be we can find something in the Bronx.  There are a

          3  lot of under- used churches. There's even a program

          4  called the Sacred Sites Program that the Landmarks

          5  Preservation has of sacred sites or churches that

          6  are seeking to partner with other non- profits for

          7  underutilization, maximizing the utilization.

          8                 So use me as a resource.  Send them

          9  to me.  We also have grant money.  We have a lot of

         10  programs for groups whose budgets is under $100,000

         11  a year.  That's our area of expertise.  So before

         12  you went, I just had to say that.  And Ebbet Taylor

         13  (phonetic) who is with me, and Paul Pensimkins

         14  (phonetic) can also hand you business cards and all

         15  that stuff. So we'll get all the information.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Ginny, let me

         17  just tell you, Ginny, you'd never think that she's

         18  Greek because she likes to make Shitakes (phonetic).

         19                 MS. LOULOUDES:  I take that as a

         20  compliment, but I thought your were going to say you

         21  thought I was Italian.  I just don't understand why

         22  the introduction to this meeting said`back in the

         23  Egyptians who invented theater.'  Hello?  The Greeks

         24  invented theater, okay?  I'll give them the

         25  pyramids, we get theater.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  All right.

          3  What do you want to say?

          4                 MS. LOULOUDES:  What else do I want

          5  to say?  You wanted to know how to get more activity

          6  in the outer boroughs.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  What we're

          8  trying to do

          9  you know, people in the outer boroughs feel that

         10  they don't have time, a lot of them are  single

         11  parents, or they can't afford to go into Manhattan,

         12  and how to get out there, and that's one issue.

         13                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Right.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  The other issue

         15  is then, how do they get from the outer boroughs

         16  into Manhattan, and how to get the Manhattan people

         17  out of Manhattan, let them realize there's outer

         18  boroughs.

         19                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  So.

         21                 MS. LOULOUDES:  There's two ways.  I

         22  would say that again, financial incentives work.

         23  When we build our office and rehearsal space in Fort

         24  Greene, Brooklyn, we brought 20 companies who were

         25  not Brooklyn- based, with the exception of one,
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          2  Kings County Shakespeare.  Everyone else was based

          3  in Manhattan. The concept of going to Brooklyn, you

          4  thought you were bringing them to Bulgaria, and they

          5  came across the train, and they were like, "this is

          6  faster than going cross- town."  Two have since

          7  moved to Brooklyn.  We have more Manhattan groups

          8  rehearsing in Brooklyn because it's cheaper.  More

          9  people are moving to the boroughs because they are

         10  getting priced out of Manhattan.

         11                 The audiences have always been in the

         12  boroughs for Broadway, for off- Broadway, and even

         13  for off- off- Broadway.  Many of us live there.  So

         14  financial incentives for affordable rehearsal space,

         15  affordable rents for office space, affordable

         16  theater space.  Again, go to your non- traditional

         17  sources, churches, schools.  There are high schools

         18  for the performing arts not just in Manhattan.  I

         19  believe they are building one in Brooklyn.  There

         20  are facilities in Queens.  Jeff is doing a fantastic

         21  job, the Queens Theater in the Park, of bringing

         22  groups to him, and I have known that now because

         23  he's on my Board.

         24                 There's also an amazing artist who

         25  lives in Brooklyn named Ian Gordon (phonetic) who
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          2  worked with kids in Queens and in Brooklyn, and

          3  their goal was to envision a city that represented

          4  their dreams and hopes, and that became a theatrical

          5  production.  They are going to stage the Brooklyn

          6  one fairly soon, and I think he's doing it at Queens

          7  Theater in the Park.

          8                 So, there are things happening.  The

          9  biggest problem is that the small groups don't have

         10  the money to promote it, and that's where you folks

         11  come in.  If we feed you information that you could

         12  send in your newsletters that you send to your

         13  constituents, if we could get more relationships

         14  with the local newspapers because there are so many

         15  it's hard to know who they are.  If there's anything

         16  A.R.T./New York could do to facilitate it, we would

         17  be happy to do that, and I think Free Theater Week

         18  is a great, great idea because while my theaters

         19  won't be able to all take out ads in the New York

         20  Times, they can do what's called viral marketing;

         21  word of mouth, e- blasts, information of curtain

         22  times when there's applause, letting people know

         23  about this.  That's the way we can build on this.

         24                 So, those were just some of my

         25  thoughts.  I'll let you read the rest of my
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          2  testimony, which praised Domenic for all his good

          3  work.

          4                 I wanted to thank this Committee.

          5  This has been the most active committee, and I have

          6  seen Ms. Dickens at every meeting. I've seen Dan

          7  Garodnick at a lot of these meetings. I've seen

          8  Vinnie Gentile at the beginning of every meeting.

          9  Don't tell him I said that.  But you guys are very

         10  dedicated. Leroy has been with us from day one.  So

         11  I want to thank you all. Eric Gioia also, all of

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  We want to

         14  thank you for the work that your organization is

         15  doing, and contributions that you are making in

         16  helping the theater because one thing I can say to

         17  you is that we'd like to meet with you to see how we

         18  can get the information out to council members

         19  before they do their newsletters.

         20                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Absolutely, what's

         21  the leadtime on your newsletters?

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well I mean, we

         23  get two a year, and every council member--

         24                 MS. LOULOUDES:  That's it?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA: -- well, you
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          2  could have more, it's up to the individual council

          3  members.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VACCA:  We should have

          5  more.  See what she says?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  But we should

          7  sit down and talk about it.

          8                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Also the way  --  you

          9  have a great website.  The Council website is a

         10  great, I mean, it's great.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  We will sit

         12  down and talk and see how we can expose that.

         13                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Yes, absolutely.

         14  Happy to do that.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  All right.  Now

         16  we'll hear from the League, Charlotte St. Martin.

         17                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  Thank you and good

         18  afternoon Chairman Recchia and members of the

         19  Committee on Cultural Affairs, Libraries and

         20  International Intergroup Relations.

         21                 I am Charlotte St. Martin the

         22  Executive Director of the League of American

         23  Theaters and Producers, soon to be the Broadway

         24  League.

         25                 Live Theater Week is a tremendous
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          2  opportunity to shed the spotlight on Broadway to New

          3  Yorkers in all five boroughs, as well as visitors

          4  during a traditionally slower time of the year for

          5  Broadway, and all other live theaters.  So your

          6  Proposed resolution is just quite simply brilliant,

          7  so thank you.

          8                 Broadway is the number one cited

          9  reason for visiting New York City for pleasure, and

         10  the engine that drives tourism here in New York, and

         11  Broadway's health is intrinsically linked to the

         12  economic well- being of the City.  Paid attendance

         13  last year was over $12.3 million, which was only the

         14  second time in the history of Broadway that we

         15  passed the $12 million mark, and 65 percent of the

         16  attendance was from tourists, thanks to a great job

         17  done by NYC and Company.

         18                 But very importantly, the other 35

         19  percent comes from the Metro area, and this is

         20  indeed one of our most important constituencies as

         21  they come year in and year out, and a designation of

         22  Live Theater Week every year would help to keep Live

         23  Theater top of mind to these very important guests,

         24  while helping frankly struggling shows stay open

         25  longer.  With additional support we can work
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          2  together with other live theater organizations to

          3  promote this week nationally like Ginny's group.

          4                 As I just mentioned, winter is one of

          5  the slowest times for attendance on Broadway.  So

          6  this is a very positive move to help us improve the

          7  times when our shows need the help the most, and our

          8  health is important to the health of New York City.

          9                 During the holidays, theaters are

         10  occupied at 90 percent, but during the last week of

         11  July (sic), it's at least 20 percent lower than

         12  that.  So therefore, we're clearly a big proponent

         13  of your new Live Theater Week.

         14                 Our most recent economic impact study

         15  reflected that Broadway contributed an estimated

         16  $8.4 billion, with a b, to the New York City

         17  economy, which includes direct spending by the

         18  theaters, the shows, and the tourists which

         19  together, the tourists contributed over $3 billion

         20  in ancillary spending.

         21                 I'd like to acknowledge Speaker

         22  Quinn, Commissioner Oliver, Commissioner Levin, this

         23  Committee and the Mayor's Office for the vital role

         24  each plays in enhancing the experience of visitors

         25  to the theater district.  I am very grateful to the
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          2  City of New York for its past support of Broadway,

          3  and look forward to our continued collaborations.

          4  We look forward to working with the City Council,

          5  and the Administration to maximize the good

          6  intentions behind the Live Theater Week.

          7                 Because you mentioned it, I just want

          8  to thank you very, very warmly for your support of

          9  Family First Nights.  One of our audience

         10  development programs created to make Broadway more

         11  accessible to all demographic audiences.  Last year

         12  we served over 100 families, which represented 400

         13  people with this program, but my goal was to get it

         14  to 1,000 within a couple of years.

         15                 I'm happy to answer any questions,

         16  thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I just have to

         18  say, I'm a big supporter of Family First Night for

         19  several reasons.  One, we really get people to the

         20  theater that have never been there. Two, I think the

         21  League does an outstanding job in following up and

         22  talking to the families.  You know, you're not just

         23  going there, giving someone tickets saying, "Here,

         24  go."  There's a whole program, you talk to the

         25  families, children, and really give them incentive
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          2  to come back.

          3                 I just want to thank you, thank the

          4  League for coming up with this program, and most of

          5  all for the buses.  A lot of people, they don't have

          6  a problem taking the train to the theater, but they

          7  have a problem riding the trains at 10:30/11:00 at

          8  night to get home, and that is something, parking in

          9  New York is a big problem.  Imagine if we did have

         10  parking at reasonable rates, I think it would just

         11  be really, really great.  But this is what's going

         12  on, and we have to recognize it.

         13                 Now you were here and you heard the

         14  Commissioners' testimony.  Is there anything you

         15  would like to add to that or say or comment on what

         16  they said?

         17                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  Well, certainly live

         18  theater encompasses more than just commercial

         19  Broadway, as I think Commissioner Oliver indicated,

         20  70 percent- plus of the Tony Award winning

         21  productions actually originated off- Broadway.

         22                 It is important that we continue to

         23  look at the funding to support the promotion of live

         24  theater in all ways so that we can continue to keep

         25  Broadway healthy.  We know that a great top line
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          2  doesn't always mean a great bottom line, so times

          3  like the last week of January when we can help make

          4  that a better time, and get better recognition to

          5  bring more people in during the winter, is a great

          6  offer.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Okay.  You said

          8  in your comment that the last week in July the

          9  theaters were low?

         10                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  Did I say July?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes, you meant

         12  January, right?

         13                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  I meant January,

         14  sorry.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes, that's

         16  what I thought.

         17                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  I'm sorry.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  All right, I

         19  just wanted to be clear.

         20                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  Oh, it's winter

         21  because--

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  It's winter,

         23  listen that's what we're trying to do, get the

         24  theaters filled up and let the people realize that

         25  maybe  --  let them know where they can go out and
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          2  get tickets, and how they can really get to the

          3  theater.

          4                 Ms. Louloudes, I just want to follow

          5  up on something that you said, and that is that you

          6  are talking about rehearsal space in the outer

          7  boroughs.  It's unfortunate that we don't use our

          8  schools enough for rehearsal space, and so, well the

          9  school is really not in my district, but it takes

         10  kids in from my district, and what I did was  --

         11  because a lot of kids who made LaGuardia couldn't go

         12  there because it is too far and the parents didn't

         13  feel safe and so.

         14                 So, we started this program at Edward

         15  R. Murrow High School, and this past year was the

         16  first time they tested to get into their acting

         17  program.  They have a full theater/drama program,

         18  and teach kids that there's a marketing end of the

         19  theater business, there's stage handlers, there's a

         20  whole program that we're building on, and the

         21  biggest complaint I heard is that there's not  --

         22  from different groups in the community, there's no

         23  place to go rehearse.

         24                 So, I made a deal with the principle

         25  that I would redo his auditorium to make it like a
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          2  real live theater.  What we did was, we converted

          3  this auditorium.  It took me two- and- a- half years

          4  to do this.  The Department of Ed. Said I couldn't

          5  use the funding to make it a theater, and we're back

          6  and forth  --  the legal experts of our city said I

          7  couldn't do it.  I took them on, and the problem was

          8  is that if you're going to do it, because we put in

          9  real live theater seats, and the problem was that if

         10  you want to do this, we have to call the auditorium

         11  a theater, not an auditorium.  I mean, it's crazy

         12  the logistics but anyway, and the principle is

         13  permitting groups to use the auditorium at a very,

         14  very nominal fee, and we're working it out with the

         15  Department of Ed.  But that is something that we

         16  should work on.

         17                 MS. LOULOUDES:  I would recommend

         18  that you and I have to also talk, and bring the

         19  architect that's working with us now, Mitchell Kurtz

         20  (phonetic), on our Archstone Clinton Project, knows

         21   --  he was a stage manager first, and then he

         22  became an architect.  Years ago we took him to meet

         23  with the Buildings and the Fire commissioners to go

         24  over the duplicative and contradictory issues, and

         25  they looked at him and said, "Who are you, you know
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          2  the codes so well?"

          3                 For example, you don't always need in

          4  a theater Broadway- style theater seats.  We often

          5  have folding seats like that, that work.  I mean,

          6  there's some comfortable ones.  You can have all

          7  kinds of things that work that are flexible.

          8                 What you just did is show that a

          9  school can have a nice room that serves two means.

         10  Years ago the gym was so important.  They would

         11  never think of building a school without a gym.

         12  We've got to go back to the days when they would

         13  never think of building a school without a music

         14  room.

         15                 Do you remember when every elementary

         16  school teacher, I'm so old, knew how to play the

         17  piano?  We don't have that anymore.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Right, every

         19  kindergarten teacher had to know how to play the

         20  piano.  You don't have that anymore.

         21                 MS. LOULOUDES:  No, but I think we

         22  can make it happen again because there's a lot of

         23  talent out there, and there's a lot of desire, and

         24  there's a lot of underused, not just schools, but

         25  churches.  I cannot emphasize enough.  There is an
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          2  auditorium in my church on 18th Street in Brooklyn

          3  that is so underused.  They want me to help them put

          4  on a theater show, and I said, "Of course I'll help

          5  you do a theater show."  It's not a beautiful

          6  theater, but it would work as a rehearsal space.  It

          7  would certainly work as a rehearsal space.

          8                 So again, we have got to connect the

          9  dots, and I think we can do this, not just in

         10  Brooklyn, but in every borough.              I just

         11  want to thank Charlotte because what you didn't have

         12  time to mention was Broadway on Broadway, and

         13  Charlotte was nice enough to invite me as a guest.

         14                 So, I brought my son who had recently

         15  told me how impressed he was with the Lion King, and

         16  that if that had been the first thing he had ever

         17  seen, it would have been hard for him to come to my

         18  shows, as he calls them.  But he loved Broadway on

         19  Broadway so much, he was singing the song to Grease

         20  while he was in the bathtub.

         21                 So if you could convert this kid who

         22  is determined to do anything but what his mother

         23  does for a living, to like theater, then you are

         24  going to convert the kids who really want to.

         25                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  I will say, one of
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          2  the things we're trying to work with NYC and Company

          3  on is doing a Broadway on Broadway type program,

          4  which was last Sunday and had 50,000 people in a

          5  free concert, seeing 20 shows on Broadway, is to do

          6  one in the summer in all five boroughs where we

          7  literally had one simultaneously in each night.  But

          8  we have to find the funding for that, but we're

          9  working on the borough issues.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:   Well, I like

         11  that.  We've got to talk.

         12                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Just one thing about

         13  NYC and Company is, if there was a way that they

         14  would allow A.R.T./New York's membership  --  I

         15  would be willing to --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I know of the

         17  membership to be minimal.

         18                 MS. LOULOUDES:  No, no.  I'll pay

         19  more somewhat, if my 320 theaters who can't afford

         20  it can belong.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well.

         22                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Or can benefit,

         23  because right now Thalia, and New Federal, Pregones

         24  can't pay the money, but maybe I can pay a little

         25  more on their behalf.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, like I

          3  said, maybe we have to have a round table discussion

          4  with the Commissioners at the table, and NYC and

          5  Company at the table, to see exactly what the issues

          6  are.  We have these hearings, but we haven't had a

          7  round table discussion in a while, and I think that

          8  might be good to get everybody in the room, and get

          9  people at the table, just to vent and see how we can

         10  make it better.

         11                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Right, for example

         12  you know that Marty Golden has these concerts, he

         13  has these concerts in Brooklyn.  Marty Markowitz has

         14  these concerts in Brooklyn.  If that money could be

         15  combined to have a Broadway on Broadway, in the

         16  Coney Island--

         17                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Mrs. Domenic M.

         18  Recchia, Jr. Has concerts Tuesday nights.

         19                 MS. LOULOUDES:  That's right.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I sell it out.

         21                 MS. LOULOUDES:  We've got the

         22  cyclones.  We've got that stadium, and you could do

         23  it right there.  It would be fabulous.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, my dream

         25  is right across the street from Nathan's--
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          2                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Then we could have

          3  one in Yankee Stadium, and one in Shea Stadium, and

          4  then we could just go to the place in Staten Island

          5  where they have that team.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  All right we

          7  have to hear from Arne.

          8                 MS. LOULOUDES:  Yes, we'll go there

          9  with the actors--

         10                 MR. GUNDERSON:  It's all right.  It's

         11  all right. This is all very good.

         12                 Good afternoon, Councilman Recchia,

         13  and other council members.

         14                 My name is Arne Gunderson.  I am the

         15  Easter Regional Vice President of Actors' Equity

         16  Association and a working actor.

         17                 I want to thank you for this

         18  opportunity to express Equity's support of Theater

         19  Week here in the five boroughs of New York.

         20                 Actors' Equity Association represents

         21  more than 46,000 professional stage actors and stage

         22  managers nationwide, approximately 17,000 of whom

         23  live and work in the greater metropolitan area.

         24                 In 2013, Equity will celebrate its

         25  100th anniversary and throughout our history, we
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          2  have grown and developed with the theater industry

          3  in America.  As professional stage actors and stage

          4  managers we work with some of the most creative

          5  individuals in the world; directors, playwrights,

          6  musicians, composers, choreographers and

          7  stagehand's.

          8                 Live theater is an important

          9  cultural, economic and educational resource for our

         10  city and Equity enthusiastically supports Theater

         11  Week in January, 2008.  The creation of Theater Week

         12  will bring attention to this dynamic art form and

         13  celebrate theater at all levels in our fie boroughs,

         14  whether it is a Broadway show or a small local

         15  theater company with a limited budget and big

         16  dreams.  Just as Broadway is an important economic

         17  driver for New York City, Theater Week will

         18  acknowledge the many contributions theaters in the

         19  boroughs make to their communities. Wherever a

         20  theater is located, small businesses and

         21  neighborhood revitalization flourish.

         22                 Our city is truly a cultural capital

         23  because here in New York we have a wide variety of

         24  theatrical venues in every borough that reach

         25  audiences of all ages, backgrounds and incomes.
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          2  This cultural richness is an important element for

          3  those of us who live and work here, and is an

          4  important draw for tourists as well as a destination

          5  for theater professionals from around the world.  On

          6  any given day, people can see theater on the

          7  Broadway stage, at a small off- Broadway theater, in

          8  a park, in a publicly owned facility, and in our

          9  schools.

         10                 Live theater also has a direct impact

         11  on our young people, and is fundamental to their

         12  education.  Studies have shown that theater, as well

         13  as music, art and dance, in the classroom are

         14  essential to the creative and intellectual

         15  development of students.  Young people who have arts

         16  as part of their education achieve higher test

         17  scores, have a broader vocabulary, and are more

         18  proficient in math and science.  Theater in the

         19  classroom also has a positive impact on future

         20  audience development, overall cultural literacy, and

         21  is an investment in our children's future.

         22                 Again, I would like to reaffirm

         23  Equity's support of Theater Week, and applaud you

         24  for your efforts to shine a spotlight on live

         25  theater in our city.
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          2                 As Madeline Sherwood, one of our

          3  great actors would say on such occasions, long live

          4  live theater.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I feel like

          6  clapping.

          7                 MR. GUNDERSON:  I just want to point

          8  out.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes?

         10                 MR. GUNDERSON:  I'm from you

         11  district, I went to P.S. 101, 228, Lafayette and

         12  Brooklyn College.  All my theater was in that

         13  borough up until I left at 17.  I worked from the

         14  time I was a little kid in Brooklyn, all that time.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, I just

         16  have to tell you something, Arne.

         17                 MR. GUNDERSON:  Yes?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I'm glad to

         19  hear that because the Chancellor this year, closed

         20  Lafayette.

         21                 MR. GUNDERSON:  I know, I know, I saw

         22  that.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  A lot of people

         24  are sad, but it had to be done, okay?  We

         25  implemented three new schools.  One of the schools
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          2  is the high schools' sports management, which I

          3  personally wrote the whole curriculum and worked

          4  with the Department of Ed. On.  The second school

          5  that we brought in is a film and theater school in

          6  Lafayette, and I would love to take you down there.

          7                 MR. GUNDERSON:  I would love to go.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Because they

          9  would love to hear from you, and I believe that

         10  you'd get involved.  Lafayette has such a beautiful

         11  auditorium, a beautiful stage, and when the

         12  Chancellor and I sat down to see what should be

         13  brought into the building, I said, "We need this

         14  type of program."  The live theater and film and

         15  just to give kids an opportunity because there's not

         16  enough programs out there.

         17                 Like you said, I'm glad you spoke

         18  about the education end of it, and what we could do

         19  for the children of today because too many children

         20  don't understand that in the theater, in the film,

         21  it's not just about being an actor or an actress.

         22  It's the stagehands.  It's the people marketing it.

         23  It's the people putting it together that make it

         24  happen, and I think they should hear from somebody

         25  like you, it would be great opportunity.  So, I just
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          2  wanted to bring that to your attention.

          3                 Any other questions?

          4                 Inez Dickens.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you,

          6  Chair.

          7                 It's exciting to hear everything that

          8  you're talking about and I thank you for your

          9  testimony and sharing with us.

         10                 Charlotte, I just want to say that

         11  the Family First Nights are very successful, and

         12  should be expanded.  The schools in my district, the

         13  Harlem Children's Zone, was able to benefit from it.

         14                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  It's kind of

         16  like an anti- gang because it gave another venue, an

         17  exposure to inner city youth that never, never

         18  dreamed of things being possible.

         19                 Question though.  What type of

         20  conduit can be formed between you, and say, above

         21  96th Street that would assist the smaller and the

         22  minority theaters of color?

         23                 Harlem Arts Alliance, which I know

         24  you're fully aware of and the Dance Theater of

         25  Harlem, and the National Black Theater, and Faisons
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          2  Fire House Theater are all underutilized and are

          3  having difficulty getting funding, and sharing of

          4  space, and I'd like to see if there was something

          5  that could be done to not take them over, but be of

          6  assistance to them?

          7                 Also, and you talk about NYC and

          8  Company, it's funny because I'm talking with them

          9  now, maybe you can help me with that because I'm

         10  talking to them about a tiered membership because of

         11  the  --  I'm sorry, I am Domenic, because of the--

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Now listen,

         13  I've been hearing this for years.  This is something

         14  that we have to address.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Because of

         16  the Mart 125, and the 125th Street rezoning issues

         17  coming up, I've been speaking with George about a

         18  tiered membership, and I know that they're getting

         19  resistance from the board and other members because

         20  what benefits would be available to the tiered

         21  members versus full membership?

         22                 So, I'd like to hear just little

         23  thoughts of what you think about that, if you can do

         24  so, and if there is some kind of conduit that you

         25  can be of an assistance to the smaller and minority
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          2  theater companies above 96th Street?

          3                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  You know, I would

          4  have to give some more thought to that because the

          5  Broadway community have only been there a year, and

          6  the Broadway community have been very insular in

          7  that 20- block radius, and while it was very

          8  commercially driven, in fact, one out of five shows

          9  make money. That means four out of five don't make

         10  money.

         11                 So, they've been so inner- focused to

         12  try to help raise profitability so that they could

         13  have a bigger outreach. We're, as a League, we also

         14  have national members, and we're trying to learn

         15  from what's happening in other communities and how

         16  we can bring them together.  But, our League is very

         17  dedicated to creating more partnerships with other

         18  like organizations, like Ginny's, like all

         19  organizations that would expand our reach, and

         20  expand the education about how important theater and

         21  culture is to the lives of people like

         22  Commissioners' Levin and Oliver talked about because

         23  we believe that to have audiences of the future, we

         24  have to educate people and we have to have them in

         25  the circle so that we are more inclusive and more
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          2  diverse in, frankly, everything we do.

          3                 So, I am happy to explore that with

          4  you.  I'll give you my card before I leave, and we

          5  can sit down and explore the ideas together.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  I'd like

          7  that because you're doing, both organizations are

          8  doing fantastic work, and the exposure that you are

          9  giving young people, very important and must be

         10  expanded.  If it means that my Chair has to look and

         11  see how that can be done, what assistance--

         12                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Okay, I hear

         13  you, we'll work on it.

         14                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  One of the exciting

         15  things, we just finished our demographic report and

         16  for the first time we learned that 25 percent of our

         17  audiences were diverse, and that's the highest

         18  diversity that we have experienced in the history of

         19  Broadway.  We also learned that our audiences are

         20  getting younger.

         21                 So I do believe that everyone's

         22  efforts are reaching the masses, but we have to do

         23  much more, and we have to do a lot more Family First

         24  Nights.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Anything I
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          2  can do to be os assistance because we  --  the Mart

          3  125 is getting ready to change, the 125th Street

          4  rezoning, and we need to look at that as

          5  possibilities, not in any way to detract or destroy

          6  or take away from the Broadway corridor, but rather

          7  to serve as an enhancement because we're looking at,

          8  researching about bringing tourism and theater into

          9  the Mart, and I'm working with NYC and Company right

         10  now on that.

         11                 So, I think there is something there

         12  that you could maybe look at and explore.

         13                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  Well, I think

         14  Councilman Recchia's idea of having a round table

         15  with NYC and Company, and the other people in this

         16  room is a great idea because they have a real strong

         17  desire to expand tourism to the five boroughs, and

         18  we have a lot of ideas on how to do that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Well, that's

         20  a great because Harlem is becoming so high on

         21  tourists' focus, and in fact, thanks to New York

         22  City, they're now advertising internationally to

         23  come to Harlem.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I know, even

         25  Jim Reilly went to go eat at Sylvia's last night.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  We heard

          3  that.  Thank you so much.

          4                 MS. ST. MARTIN:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, I want to

          6  thank you all for coming today and your testimony.

          7                 Arne, could you give us a copy of

          8  your testimony?

          9                 MR. GUNDERSON:  I do, I have many

         10  copies here that I'll leave.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Oh, good.  If

         12  you could just leave us some for the record.

         13                 I want to thank you all.

         14                 Bob, please call the next panel.

         15                 BOB: (Not identified for the

         16  record.):  Next panel, Kathryn Giaimo the Thalia

         17  Spanish Theater, Woody King from the New Federal

         18  Theater representing the Coalition of Theaters of

         19  Color, Jeff Rosenstock from Queens Theater in the

         20  Park, and Robert Federico from Repertorio Espanol.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Just give your

         22  testimony to the Sergeant-At-Arms.

         23                 While we're waiting for them to get

         24  seated, I'd just like to recognize and congratulate

         25  Liz Berger on her new position of Executive Director
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          2  of the Downtown Alliance, is that right?  I want to

          3  thank you, well deserved, and we're going to miss

          4  you.  You've been very important to our Committee.

          5                 Okay, who would like to go first?  Do

          6  we have your testimony?  Ladies go first.

          7                 MS. GIAIMO:  Thank you very much.

          8  I'm just going to sort of paint a portrait for you

          9  of what an outer borough, ethnic specific, theater

         10  looks like.

         11                 I am with Thalia Spanish Theater.

         12  We're Queens' original home for Latino culture in

         13  Queens, and we like to say that every month is

         14  Hispanic Heritage Month at Thalia.  You don't have

         15  to wait until October to roll around to see Hispanic

         16  theater, music and dance.  We do it year- round, and

         17  we've been doing it for 30 years.  We've been the

         18  only bilingual Hispanic theater in Queens for 30

         19  years.

         20                 We bring thousands of visitors to

         21  Queens each year, and our roots in the community go

         22  very, very deep.  More than half of our staff and

         23  artists live in Queens.  Forty percent of our

         24  audience lives in Queens.  We serve the Queens

         25  Hispanic community of at least one million people
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          2  from every Spanish speaking nation in the world.

          3                 Our artists and audiences patronize

          4  local businesses, helping to keep our community's

          5  economy vital and competitive.  We've even fostered

          6  our very own "Restaurant Row" right across the

          7  street from us.  We now have an Argentine steakhouse

          8  and two Colombian restaurants.  So people can just

          9  do dinner and a show right across the street.

         10                 We produce our plays with alternating

         11  performances.  We do them in English and Spanish.

         12  The same cast learns the dialogue twice so that

         13  everyone can see Hispanic theater.  Our concerts and

         14  dance productions transform language barriers, and

         15  they speak to people of all backgrounds.  In our

         16  intimate space, people sit side by side, swept up by

         17  the beauty and magic of Hispanic culture.  For those

         18  of other cultures, it can be a real revelation.

         19                 In our local park, hundreds of folks

         20  from all around the world come together to enjoy our

         21  free outdoor concerts.  Children get up and dance

         22  along, and the elderly people sit in their chairs

         23  and soak up the sun and enjoy the music.

         24                 On our stage, Hispanic people are

         25  represented as real people, not as caricatures or
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          2  stereotypes.  We emphasize positive roles for

          3  Hispanic artists, and offer them opportunities and

          4  exposure that they can't really get in "mainstream"

          5  theater. We provide substantial work for emerging

          6  and established Hispanic actors, many of the who are

          7  respected and experienced professionals in their

          8  homelands, but as immigrants to the United States

          9  are overlooked or at best typecast.  We help

         10  diversify New York's theater community so that it

         11  better reflects our city's changing population.  By

         12  doing so, we make theater in New York accessible to

         13  thousands of Hispanic people who feel shut out by

         14  language and cultural barriers, ensuring the health

         15  and survival of live theater as it struggles to

         16  remain relevant.

         17                 We are also very happy that we have

         18  joined together with other Hispanic theaters, and

         19  African- American theaters to form the Coalition of

         20  Theaters of Color, and we are very dedicated to

         21  bringing theater to audiences of color throughout

         22  the City, and Woodie will speak more about that

         23  later.

         24                 In our home in Sunnyside, we are

         25  literally off off-off-off-Broadway, but we play a
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          2  crucial role in the ongoing drama of New York City

          3  theater saga, and we want to thank you for

          4  recognizing the importance of theater in New York

          5  City, for all people, in all five boroughs.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.

          7                 We'll hear from everyone, then we'll

          8  ask questions.  Okay, Jeff.

          9                 MR. ROSENSTOCK:  My name is Jeff

         10  Rosenstock, and Councilman Recchia and Council

         11  members, I am grateful for the opportunity to share

         12  with you some information about being not a

         13  Broadway, not an off- Broadway, not an off- off-

         14  Broadway theater, but an outer borough theater,

         15  which many of our colleagues in the outer boroughs,

         16  we put on shows and productions that aspire to serve

         17  folks that some people call the`bridge and tunnel

         18  crowd.'             We love that bridge and tunnel

         19  crowd because they're our residents, they are a

         20  force that do come into Manhattan and buy tickets to

         21  Manhattan theaters and Broadway shows.  I know that

         22  because we exchange lists with the Shuberts, and we

         23  see that many of their patrons who live in the

         24  neighborhoods right around our theater.  But as an

         25  outer borough theater, our goal is not only to
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          2  provide the same quality of programs being offered

          3  to audiences in Manhattan, but to also forge new

          4  territory in terms of creating programs and

          5  productions which reflect who are communities are,

          6  and of equal or more importance of changing the

          7  demographics of the audiences who attend our shows

          8  to more closely reflect the demographics of the

          9  communities.

         10                 I believe theater is first and

         11  foremost the place of public assembly, and I want to

         12  create a sense of shared community with the

         13  audiences at our theater.  So, they also not only

         14  see the artist, but they see themselves.  They

         15  recognize their neighbors.  They say, "There's my

         16  PTA president.  There's my dentist.  There's my

         17  kids' teacher."   They feel part of a community.

         18                 As an outer borough theater, we're

         19  all committed to artists who reflect the diversity

         20  of our audiences, and celebrate the cultural

         21  contributions of different ethnic groups who are our

         22  residents.  It's important for an audience to see

         23  itself.  For a Hispanic child to see Abuella

         24  (phonetic) on the stage.  For a Greek- American to

         25  see a cultural celebration of Greek culture, not
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          2  only in a Greek cultural center, but in a mainstream

          3  institution like ours.

          4                 It's been a lot easier to do all of

          5  this because of the support of the Council, the

          6  Department of Cultural Affairs, the New York State

          7  Arts Council, who recognize that making

          8  contributions to the individual organizations in the

          9  neighborhoods has as much an impact on the overall

         10  City's economics, and the soul as just supporting

         11  theater companies and major companies in Manhattan,

         12  which you should also support.                    I

         13  think you also opened up a lot of doors for us with

         14  the Casa Project, which allows us to work directly

         15  with the students in the different schools.  I know

         16  our Casa Project is about; it's more fun to do

         17  theater, than it is to watch theater, and we give

         18  them that opportunity and hopefully build those

         19  audiences.

         20                      Finally just to close, you've

         21  been funding us for a long time and people are

         22  paying attention to us.  You've helped up grow from

         23  a small community- based Mom and Pop shop into the

         24  theater we are today, a theater which embraces those

         25  living in our neighborhoods we serve by providing
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          2  quality programs at affordable prices so no one has

          3  to bear the badge of being that bridge and tunnel

          4  crowd.

          5                 Thanks.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you.

          7  Woodie.

          8                 MR. KING:  Okay, I'm amazed, just

          9  amazed that I'm the only black person here making

         10  testimony.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  I just want you

         12  to know, we invited everybody.

         13                 MR. KING:  Okay.  I'm reading a sign

         14  right above your head, "A government of the people,

         15  by the people, for the people," and I just want to

         16  say we endorse Theater Week wholeheartedly for all

         17  the people, in all the boroughs, and all the Black,

         18  and Asian, and Latino theaters in New York and New

         19  York State.

         20                 I represent two organizations, really

         21  three, National Black Touring Circuit, where every

         22  year for the last 15 or 20 years we have had a

         23  festival of plays at the Shomberg Center for

         24  Research and Black Culture, your district Ms.

         25  Dickens. This year we will have a Black History
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          2  Month Theater Festival consisting of five or six

          3  plays by people like Rosa Parks, Paul Robeson, Dr.

          4  Mae Chan, Dr. Walter Debb, these people who made

          5  unbelievable contributions to the cultural life of

          6  Harlem.

          7                 I also run The New Federal Theater.

          8  For 37 years, consecutive years, we've had four

          9  plays, a minimum of four plays, full equity, each

         10  year and sometimes as many as six plays per year,

         11  when the funding was available, without stopping for

         12  37 years.

         13                 So I am here in a sense to recognize

         14  an organization that came together in 2004 with the

         15  help of Domenic Recchia, thank you, the late Ozzie

         16  Davis, and Ruby Dee and Councilman Charles Barron

         17  and his assistant Paul Washington.

         18                 The Coalition of Theaters of Color is

         19  an historic assembledge of several of the oldest

         20  ethnically- specific multi cultural theater

         21  institutions in New York, the cultural capital of

         22  the world.

         23                 These venerable institutions, each 25

         24  years old or more, includes the Billie Holiday

         25  Theater, the Black Spectrum Theater in Queens, the
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          2  Intar in New York, the National Black Theater in

          3  Harlem, The New Federal Theater, the New Heritage

          4  Theater, the Paul Robeson Theater, Thalia Spanish

          5  Theater, and Kathy who so eloquently helps that

          6  organization keep on course. The Coalition of

          7  Theaters of Color was first convened in 2004 by the

          8  late, great Ozzie Davis and Reverendess Ruby Dee,

          9  Domenic Recchia and Charles Barron to address the

         10  inequities of funding to these cultural

         11  institutions, not only relative to their mainstream

         12  counterparts throughout the state, but also to the

         13  changing demographic profile of people of color who

         14  live and work and support New York, and whose

         15  history, its culture, and life experiences are

         16  represented on Coalition of Theater of Color stages.

         17

         18                 Historically, the Coalition of

         19  Theaters of Color Institutions and the many arts

         20  organizations of color throughout the state while

         21  representing the artistry and culture of a growing

         22  majority of New Yorkers received less than one

         23  percent of the total funding for the arts and

         24  culture in New York.

         25                 Collectively, the Coalition of
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          2  Theaters of Color member theaters represent over 200

          3  years of producing hundreds of world premier

          4  productions presenting the critically acclaimed

          5  award winning artistry of many of the finest actors,

          6  directors, playwrights, musicians, choreographers,

          7  artisans, technicians and producers who have worked

          8  on stage and television or on film, and on promoting

          9  some of the greatest new and established artistic

         10  works of African and Latino origin to the people of

         11  New York City.

         12                 Additionally, these institutions have

         13  served for decades as the meeting places, cultural

         14  centers, and safe havens for the communities in

         15  which they operate, each year serving literally tens

         16  of thousands of New Yorkers providing vitally needed

         17  cultural, educational, social and economic resources

         18  and opportunities for young people, families, and

         19  members of society at large.

         20                 Each one of these institutions, in a

         21  sense, represent over 10,000 people that we could

         22  call on at any time for voting to support us by

         23  their presence, but because of economics, they

         24  cannot fund us.

         25                 I want to say what our mission
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          2  statement is.  It is to empower theatrical

          3  institutions of color in New York by increasing the

          4  funding, support and heightening the awareness of

          5  their programmatic activities.  To ensure their

          6  sustainability, legacy and preserve their longevity.

          7  To promote and preserve the significance of member

          8  institutions to the state- wide, regional, national,

          9  and international political landscape.  To establish

         10  parity in funding and resource allocation between

         11  member institutions and their mainstream

         12  counterparts.  To promote cooperation,

         13  interdependence, collective advancement, and the

         14  transfer of legacy among member institutions, the

         15  many communities we serve, and the generations yet

         16  to come.

         17                 Thank you, Councilman Recchia.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Thank you,

         19  Woodie, and I just want to say one thing and that's

         20  that you look great on TV. This summer when I saw

         21  you on TV with the show you had a the New Federal

         22  Theater, it was great.

         23                 MR. KING:  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Next please.

         25                 MR. FEDERICO:  I'm Robert Federico
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          2  from Repertorio Espanol, and everybody has said

          3  everything that I think is  -- needs to be said.

          4                 I want to tell you that at this

          5  moment with the Council, the present Council with

          6  the present Mayor, and with the present DCA, you

          7  have created a golden age for small performing arts

          8  companies.  We have never felt so warmly embraced by

          9  the City, and thank you so much.

         10                 Now, it's perfect that you're going

         11  to have Theater Week.  It should be a Theater Year

         12  to be very truthful, but there are two words that I

         13  want you to remember that are our greatest

         14  challenges.  One of them being; sponsorship.  When

         15  you talk about small theaters, corporations in the

         16  past have given through their philanthropic

         17  departments.  Now they give through their marketing

         18  departments.  As soon as they do that, they want to

         19  give sponsorship, and they want to give a lot of

         20  money, but when they ask our numbers of the people

         21  that will see their logo, when you're in a small

         22  theater like ours, which is 140 seats, you don't get

         23  the numbers.  So, it is one of the most great

         24  challenges for us at the time when you are a small

         25  arts organization.
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          2                 Theater Week, don't forget about us

          3  because we

          4  can  --  we are perfect for sponsorship in terms of

          5  big corporations.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Did we ever  --

          7    are you finished?

          8                 MR. FEDERICO:  There's another word,

          9  but go ahead first with your question.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  No, I was just

         11  thinking, we might want to try to convince some

         12  sponsors to work with a number of theaters.

         13                 Like let's say, just as an example,

         14  if they're going to give $50,000, you know what I

         15  mean?  And maybe they work with three or four

         16  theaters and you break the $50,000 up, you know what

         17  I mean, or divide it.  Of course, if the theater has

         18  a lot more  --  if you go with three theaters, and

         19  one could seat 140, one seats 50, one seats 100,

         20  everyone shouldn't get the same.  It should go

         21  according to the size.  Maybe you could work out

         22  some kind of sponsoring, collective idea, with all

         23  of the three or four theaters that you might want to

         24  work with.

         25                 MR. FEDERICO:  Right.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  This is an idea

          3  that the Theaters of Color might want to think about

          4  or something like that, doing projects like that.

          5                 MR. FEDERICO:  It's very important,

          6  and if we can do something that's packaged along

          7  with Theater Week, that would be wonderful.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, this is

          9  something I have to look into.  I'm glad you brought

         10  it to my attention, and it's a good idea.

         11                 MR. FEDERICO:  It's a major

         12  challenge.

         13                 The other one being; connections.  I

         14  mean, Repertorio Espanol is a Latino theater, and if

         15  you look at the top executive core of the

         16  corporations in New York City, you'll find a dearth

         17  of Latino executives.  They're at middle management,

         18  and they can make decisions in terms of funding, is

         19  it at the $5,000, $10,000, or $15,000 level, but the

         20  really big money in terms of the Sandy Wiles

         21  (phonetic), you can say, "Let me start off your

         22  capital campaign at $500,000, and let me give you

         23  the name of a developer who's developing a new

         24  space, and they want a wonderful arts organization

         25  to give it class."  We don't have those connections
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          2  yet, and that's something that the City can help us

          3  with and the Council can help us with a great deal.

          4                 So, that's all I wanted to say.

          5  Thank you for listening to me, and if there's any

          6  questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, first of

          8  all, I want to thank you all for coming here today,

          9  and your testimony is very important because we need

         10  to hear from you in order to know how we can help

         11  you.  That's what this is all about.

         12                 Other committees pass legislation and

         13  laws and stuff, but this  --  in the cultural

         14  community it's about how we can help you as

         15  government, whether it be in marketing or one thing

         16  that we came out here today is that we need to sit,

         17  get to the table, NYC and Company to really figure

         18  out a way how we can get more people to join them

         19  without having to pay these exorbitant fees.  It's a

         20  problem.  We heard that today, and we're going to

         21  look into that.

         22                 But also, what else can we do in

         23  government to help you succeed, especially those

         24  theaters, liver performance, in the outer boroughs?

         25  There's too many  --  you're the forgotten step-
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          2  child so to say.

          3                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  In terms of

          4  when you were talking about round tables, I think it

          5  would be really interesting because a lot of times

          6  it's preaching to the choirs. You can belong to the

          7  Arts and Business Council--

          8                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Yes, like

          9  you're here today and there's nobody here from the

         10  Administration.

         11                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  Well, not even

         12  that, but business leaders don't hear it, and we're

         13  not on their radar no matter how hard we try, and

         14  believe me, we try.  But we really don't have the

         15  connections, and I think if the City did some sort

         16  of outreach, maybe try to cultivate black and

         17  Hispanic executives, and Asian executives, and get

         18  them to meet with us, and talk to us because the

         19  mainstream organizations aren't doing it.  They help

         20  a lot, but they don't do that, and we'd love to have

         21  that kind of help.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Does anybody

         23  else have anything to say on this because Council

         24  Member Inez Dickens has a question.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you,
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          2  Domenic.

          3                 It's not so much a question as a

          4  statement

          5  because  -- and Woodie it's good to see you because

          6  you're very renowned.  Thank you for all of the work

          7  that you do.

          8                 Chair Recchia and I work very, very

          9  hard to try to garner as much funding as we can for

         10  the Coalition of Theaters of Color to protect the

         11  ethnic- specific culturals because they are so

         12  important, and because actually you put on various

         13  plays, dance performances, in the various

         14  communities that really allow the community, at an

         15  affordable price, and sometimes at no price, to be

         16  able to come and see a performance.

         17                 So, I just wanted it to be on the

         18  record that Domenic has worked very hard.  I've

         19  stood beside him as we've had to fight with the

         20  Administration, and to fight in order to get as much

         21  funding as we can for you.  As well as, out of

         22  discretionary, to try to make up any shortfalls as

         23  best as I could, to try to give money to the

         24  H.A.D.L.E.Y. Players, to the National Black Theater,

         25  Faisons Fire House, and numerous others, mainly of
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          2  course within my district I must admit, but

          3  nonetheless, they are all part of Theaters of Color.

          4

          5                 I just wanted to put that on the

          6  record because I know how hard that it is for you,

          7  all of you to exist, and also I was raised coming to

          8  performances at National Black Theater before they

          9  were located where they are today, when we had a

         10  thousand steps to go up to the auditorium.

         11                 So, I just want to say thank you for

         12  fighting to stay in existence, and thank you for

         13  what you do for the communities, and thank you for

         14  wanting to stay alive, and know that Domenic has

         15  been a main force in all of this.

         16                 MR. KING:  I just want to say for the

         17  week of October 1 through 6, where the Harlem Arts

         18  Alliance and Council Member Dickens is pulling

         19  together a series of discussions where we can speak

         20  to the community of the plight of which we are

         21  facing, each theater and we have a panel on October

         22  2nd from 2 to 4:30 at the Schomburg, and I think I

         23  am there because I am hoping that Council Member

         24  Dickens will be there to hear what we have got to

         25  say because a lot of us will speak directly to you
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          2  and can't get to you sometimes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Domenic is

          4  coming up on the first for the kickoff.

          5                 COMMISSIONER OLIVER:  I just want to

          6  say one more thing too, is that we are all very

          7  aware of the looming term limits and we're very,

          8  very concerned of a consistency and that we are

          9  still staying on the radar after you all move on to

         10  bigger and better things, and that you will help to

         11  do whatever you can to lay the ground work to make

         12  sure that all theaters are looked out for.  Thanks,

         13  you've done a great job.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON RECCHIA:  Well, I can't

         15  say what the future holds, but I have to tell you

         16  something.  I am leaving someone very, very good

         17  behind who will still be in power, and I know she

         18  will be a great advocate for the theaters, and that

         19  is Inez Dickens, who is a great colleague and we

         20  work extremely well together.

         21                 The main focus is, in the future,

         22  whoever is the next Speaker, is that someone who

         23  really cares about culture, live theater, the arts,

         24  to be the chair of the committee because it means a

         25  lot, and when I first became Chair of this
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          2  Committee, the Bronx delegation voted me down, but

          3  Gifford Miller felt that I was the best person for

          4  this job.  It's not about politics, and sometimes

          5  you have to put that aside.  It's about what's in

          6  the best interest for the City of New York, and I

          7  want to thank you for having the confidence in me,

          8  and to hear that we're doing a good job, and it's

          9  because of my staff.  I wouldn't be the person that

         10  I am today, Josh Nackowitz moved on, Mari de Pedro

         11  moved on, but to my left I still have my Finance

         12  brains, Jake Herring, who's over there.  I want to

         13  thank you, Jake for all the work that you have done,

         14  and really being there, and I want to thank Mike

         15  Benjamin today for stepping up to the plate.

         16                 We are trying to find a new policy

         17  person, and a new attorney, and they have some big

         18  shoes to fill.  But, I just have to say I appreciate

         19  those kind words, and the future, we'll see what

         20  happens.

         21                 Does anyone else have anything to

         22  say?  Or testimony?

         23                 I want to thank everyone for coming

         24  today, and I want to adjourn this meeting.

         25                 (Hearing concluded at 2:49 p.m.)
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